#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BARRY JAMES RIVES, M.D.; and LAPAROSCOPIC SURGERY OF NEVADA, LLC,	Case No. 80271 Electronically Filed
Appellants/Cross-Respondents,	Oct 13 2020 10:29 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
VS.	Clerk of Supreme Court
TITINA FARRIS and PATRICK FARRIS,	
Respondents/Cross-Appellants.	
BARRY JAMES RIVES, M.D.; and LAPAROSCOPIC SURGERY OF NEVADA, LLC,	Case No. 81052
Appellants,	
vs.	
TITINA FARRIS and PATRICK FARRIS,	
Respondents.	

### APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT

### EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT STATE OF NEVADA, CLARK COUNTY HONORABLE JOANNA S. KISHNER, DISTRICT JUDGE

\*\*\*\*

### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

#### I. Substantive appealability.

This is an appeal from a final judgment and a post-judgment order awarding attorneys' fees and costs. 12 A.App. 2479; 31 A.App. 6802. Both are appealable. NRAP 3A(b)(1) [final judgment] and (8) [special order after final judgment].

#### II. Timeliness.

Notice of entry of the judgment was served electronically on November 19, 2019. 12 A.App. 2483. A notice of appeal was filed on December 18, 2019 (30 A.App. 6665). Notice of entry of the post-judgment order was served electronically on March 31, 2020. 31 A.App. 6816. An amended notice of appeal was filed on April 13, 2020. 31 A.App. 6835.

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case should be retained by the Supreme Court, because it involves a tort judgment of more than \$6 million. NRAP 17(b)(5).

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the district court erred by allowing Plaintiffs to use the reptile theory.
- 2. Whether the district court erred by allowing evidence of the Vickie Center case.
- 3. Whether the district court erred by giving an adverse inference instruction.
- 4. Whether the district court erred regarding ERISA preemption.

1

5.	Whether the	district court	erred by	limiting and	excluding	defense ex	perts.
----	-------------	----------------	----------	--------------	-----------	------------	--------

- 6. Whether the district court erred by granting JMOL.
- 7. Whether the district court erred regarding hospital records.
- 8. Whether the district court erred regarding the Hurwitz deposition.
- 9. Whether the district erred regarding cross-examination of Dr. Juell.
- 10. Whether the district court erred by awarding attorneys' fees.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

Plaintiffs filed their complaint on July 1, 2016. 1 A.App. 1. The trial was held in October 2019, with a verdict for Plaintiffs; judgment was entered on November 14, 2019. 12 A.App. 2475, 2479. The district court granted attorneys' fees and costs to Plaintiffs. 31 A.App. 6802. Appellants appealed from the judgment and the post-judgment order. 30 A.App. 6665; 31 A.App. 6835.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff Titina Farris was a patient of Dr. Naomi Chaney, who was treating Farris for diabetes (among other things). 27 A.App. 6001. Farris was having back pain, with pain and burning in her feet; and her diabetes was uncontrolled, despite her use of medications. 27 A.App. 6000-06. Dr. Chaney diagnosed Farris as having uncontrolled diabetes, causing neuropathy (consistent with pain/burning in her feet and lower legs). 27 A.App. 6004-6, 6012.

In 2014, Dr. Chaney referred Farris to Dr. Rives for swelling in her upper abdomen. 27 A.App. 6039. He found a hernia, which he repaired surgically. 27 A.App. 6039-41. Farris returned to Dr. Rives in 2015 with another hernia, which he surgically repaired on July 3, 2015. 27 A.App. 6041-43—28 A.App. 6046. Dr. Rives found part of the colon had become stuck to mesh from the prior surgery, and in freeing the colon from the mesh, he inadvertently caused two small holes in the colon, which he repaired using a stapling device. 28 A.App. 6055-59.

Farris developed problems after the surgery, including sepsis (an infection). 23 A.App. 5023. She had a CT scan on July 5, 2015, showing no evidence of a leak anywhere in her colon. 23 A.App. 5021.

On July 12, there was a plain film of the abdomen, again showing no evidence of a leak. 24 A.App. 5203. But another CT scan on July 15 did show evidence of a leak in the colon. 24 A.App. 5203-06. Farris underwent surgery to repair the leak (with another surgeon). 28 A.App. 6207. Her sepsis continued, and she eventually developed foot-drop in both feet. 30 A.App. 6531:4. The extent to which the footdrop was caused by the sepsis was a disputed issue at trial, with defense expert testimony establishing that the foot-drop was largely caused by the preexisting diabetic neuropathy.

Farris sued Dr. Rives for malpractice, contending that Dr. Rives caused a hole in the colon during surgery, and that fecal material leaked from the hole into Farris's abdomen, causing the sepsis and the subsequent foot-drop. The jury found for Farris. This appeal followed.

Additional facts will be provided below.

#### **ARUMENTS**

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The district court committed multiple errors, which combined to create an unfair trial. First, the district court allowed Plaintiffs to use a "reptile" strategy, which improperly inflates verdicts by appealing to jurors' primal instincts. The district court then allowed Plaintiffs to introduce significant evidence regarding another patient who suffered complications from surgery by Dr. Rives, including amputation of both feet. This evidence was not only irrelevant, it was highly inflammatory and prejudicial. The other case—including the fact that there was a pending lawsuit—was mentioned at least 180 times in the presence of the jury.

The district court also erroneously gave an adverse inference jury instruction, based upon a faulty analysis of facts and law.

Next, the district court committed multiple evidentiary errors, including exclusion of defense expert witnesses, exclusion of a key deposition transcript, and exclusion of hundreds of pages of relevant medical records. These rulings failed to comply with evidence law, resulting in prejudice to the defense.

4

The district court also granted judgment as a matter of law regarding two elements of damages. This ruling ignored the correct standard of review for a JMOL motion. As a result of the ruling, the district court filled in two lines on the jury verdict form, thereby awarding nearly \$6 million on these items, instead of allowing the jury to make the decision.

The district court also failed to apply federal preemption correctly regarding important statutory protections for doctors in medical malpractice cases. Finally, the district court erroneously awarded more than \$800,000.00 in attorneys' fees, without any proper legal basis.

#### **CUMULATIVE ERROR**

Any one of the errors in this case can justify reversal. But when the combined errors are considered together, reversal is even more compelling. Cumulative error applies when there are numerous errors found to be prejudicial, even if a single error alone might not be sufficient for a reversal. Although the doctrine has been recognized in criminal cases, the case of *Holderer v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co.*, 114 Nev. 845, 853, 963 P.2d 459, 465 (1998) seems to have impliedly adopted the doctrine. *Holderer* was a civil case, where this court held that although certain errors did not rise to the level of reversible error, reversal was required when those errors were coupled with other errors at trial.

In the present case, the district court's erroneous rulings permeated the trial, from beginning to end. Any objective reading of the trial transcript leads to the conclusion that the cumulative errors resulted in an unfair trial, and a new trial should be ordered.

#### I. The district court erred by allowing Plaintiffs to use the reptile theory.

Whether an attorney's comments at trial constitute misconduct is a question of law, reviewed *de novo*. *Lioce v. Cohen*, 124 Nev. 1, 20, 174 P.3d 970, 982 (2008).

#### A. The reptile theory is improper.

The reptile theory is a "jury influence tactic" used by plaintiffs' attorneys to motivate juries to award larger verdicts. *Perez v. Ramos*, 2018 WL 5305614, \*9 (Kan. App. 2018; unpublished) (affirming defense verdict where trial court granted anti-reptile order in limine). The tactic appeals to jurors' basic survival instincts (their "reptilian brains") by persuading them that their own safety is at risk and that a larger plaintiff's verdict will make them safer by making their community safer. *Id.* To use the tactic, a plaintiff's attorney tries to establish generic "safety rules," which may or may not have anything to do with specific facts and duties in the case. *Id.* "Reliance on these safety rules then activates the survival instinct of the jurors and prompts the jury to return a higher verdict." *Id.* The reptile theory encourages a jury decision based upon fear, generated by plaintiff's counsel, that a verdict for the defendant will harm the safety of the community, and thus, the jury's own safety.

See Randolph v. QuikTrip Corp., 2017 WL 2214932, \*4 (D. Kan. 2017; unpublished).

In a medical malpractice case, the plaintiff's attorney uses the reptile theory in an effort to activate a jury's reptilian survival mode by suggesting that, regardless of legal standards of care, doctors may not take unnecessary risks and must make safe choices, or the safest choices, for patients. *Bryson v. Genesys Regional Medical Center*, 2018 WL 1611438, \*18 (Mich. App. 2018; unpublished). Such arguments are improper because they suggest "a more stringent standard of care" than the correct legal duty in a malpractice case, i.e., a duty to comply with the standard of care in the medical community.<sup>1</sup> *Id.* 

Nevada doctors commit negligence (malpractice) by failing to use "the reasonable care, skill or knowledge ordinarily used under similar circumstances by similarly trained and experienced providers of health care." NRS 41A.015. This standard of care is established through expert testimony at trial. *See Szymborski v. Spring Mountain Treatment Center*, 133 Nev. 638, 642, 403 P.3d 1280, 1284-85 (2017). A defendant in a negligence case is not required to act in "the safest possible

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Bryson found that the plaintiff's "limited and fleeting" improper references were harmless in that case. *Id.* Here, Plaintiffs' references to safety as a substitute for the actual legal standard of care permeated the trial, starting with voir dire, continuing throughout witness testimony, and finally ending with closing arguments.

way," but is only required to act reasonably under the circumstances. *See Johnson v. National Sea Products, Ltd.*, 35 F.3d 626, 632 (1st Cir. 1994).

A plaintiff's use of the reptile theory tactic in a medical malpractice case runs contrary to these standards. The plaintiff's use of the terms "safety requirements" and "safety rules," with reference to the medical defendant's policies and procedures, will "prejudice the jury by conflating the standard of care with the safety rules." *See Lanam v. Promise Regional Medical Center*, 2016 WL 105046, \*9 (Kan. App. 2016; unpublished) (holding that trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding that plaintiff's counsel violated an order in limine prohibiting reference to "safety" rules and requirements).

Arguments and evidence based on "broad and abstract" concepts of patient safety or needlessly endangering patients—or arguments that a doctor's job is to "take care of people and help people, but really the safety" of patients—are improper. *See Biglow v. Eidenberg*, 424 P.3d 515, 528-29 (Kan. 2018). Such concepts inappropriately rephrase the legal duty of care for doctors, and the concepts do nothing to establish whether a doctor breached the actual legal standard of care. *Id.* Thus, in addition to prohibiting plaintiff's counsel from referring to "safety rules," a trial court appropriately prohibits the plaintiff's use of the word "safe" or the phrase "needlessly endanger" in a medical malpractice case. *Id.* 

#### B. The district court improperly allowed the tactic.

In the present case, Plaintiffs' reptile tactic permeated the entire trial, starting with voir dire and continuing throughout the trial until closing argument. A trial transcript search shows that Plaintiffs' counsel used the phrase "safety rules" at least 30 times while talking to prospective jurors during jury selection. He talked to jurors about their own personal compliance with safety rules while driving, working, and at home. 18 A.App. 3828-32. He talked to jurors about what happens if people do not follow safety rules, and injuries that can ensue. *Id.* Counsel discussed the distinction between regular "rules" and "safety rules," with emphasis on consequences of "breaking the safety rules," and whether somebody who breaks a safety rule and causes an accident should get "a complete pass" for what happened. 18 A.App. 3838-41.

Plaintiffs' counsel then repeatedly talked to jurors about whether doctors and surgeons must follow "safety rules," and what safety rules jurors thought surgeons should follow. 18 A.App. 3832-33, 3841-51. Counsel asked jurors about what can happen if a doctor violates a safety rule; and, as expected, jurors indicated possible death, loss of function of a person's body, or infection. 18 A.App. 3846.

Defense counsel repeatedly objected on various grounds, including the ground that Plaintiffs' counsel was improperly indoctrinating jurors, reference to safety rules was an incorrect statement of law, and reference to "safety rules" for doctors

9

was inconsistent with the applicable legal standard in medical malpractice cases. 18 A.App. 3832, 3841, 3846-47, 3851-59. The district court consistently overruled these objections. 18 A.App. 3833-34, 3841, 3853-58. When defense counsel mentioned that Nevada appellate courts had not yet addressed the objectionable reptile theory, the district court disagreed and stated that the Nevada Supreme Court **has** addressed the issue.<sup>2</sup> 18 A.App. 3855-56.

After voir dire, Plaintiffs' counsel continued his reptile tactic during opening statement, where virtually the first thing he told the jury was: "What brings us to the court today, to the courthouse, this court of law, are safety rules; safety rules that surgeons must follow." 19 A.App. 4247. The district court overruled defense counsel's objection. *Id.* Plaintiffs' counsel mentioned "safety rules" eight times in the first page of the opening statement transcript. *Id.* During cross-examination of Dr. Rives, Plaintiffs' counsel discussed "safety" or "safety rules" at least 15 times; and defense counsel's objection was overruled. 20 A.App. 4300-09; 28 A.App. 6218, 6271. Plaintiffs' counsel continued using the reptile "safety" tactic during

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The district court failed to identify any Nevada cases about which she was referring on the reptile tactic issue. A Westlaw search for this brief revealed no published or unpublished Nevada decision dealing with legitimacy of the reptile theory. The closest thing is *Boyack v. Dist. Ct.*, 2019 WL 1877402 (Nev. 2019; No. 75522; unpublished), where the court dealt with procedural requirements for mistrial sanctions relating to the reptile theory. But the *Boyack* court expressly declined to decide whether the reptile theory is a legitimate trial technique. *Id.* at n.1.

examination of defense witnesses Dr. Juell and Dr. Ardanato.<sup>3</sup> 24 A.App. 5267-68; 26 A.App. 5728. And in closing arguments, Plaintiffs' counsel argued about safety rules, including arguments (two times) that a doctor must choose "the safest tool." 29 A.App. 6385.

In other words, Plaintiffs' counsel hammered at his reptile tactic repeatedly and pervasively—dozens of times—from the beginning of trial until the very end, over defense counsel's overruled objections. No amount of debating skill can establish that this would not have impacted the jury's multi-million dollar verdict.

### **II.** The district court erred by allowing evidence of the Vickie Center case.

Admission or exclusion of evidence is generally reviewed for abuse of discretion, but where an evidentiary ruling includes a legal interpretation of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In addition to discussing "safety" during examination of defense medical witnesses, Plaintiffs' counsel used another scare tactic consistent with the reptile theory. On cross-examination of Dr. Juell, counsel asked about estimates of the number of deaths in the United States caused by medical errors on an annual basis. 25 A.App. 5348. A defense objection was overruled, and Dr. Juell noted some literature indicating as many as 400,000 deaths per year. Id. Plaintiffs' counsel then emphasized that there have been scientific studies indicating "over 400,000 deaths a year from medical error," which meant that "on a daily basis it's an indication of more than a 1,000 Americans because of medical error that die per day if those estimates were correct." 25 A.App. 5348-49. Counsel then asked whether the high number of deaths caused by medical error is "an okay scenario," and whether "one of the ways that we reduce the error frequency is by holding those who commit errors accountable for their errors." 25 A.App. 5349. Of course, Dr. Juell had to agree. *Id.* These questions were obviously designed to fortify the reptile theory tactic by hammering on broad concepts of patient safety, needlessly endangering patients resulting in numerous deaths, and activating the jury's survival instinct to protect the safety of the community, and the jury's own safety, by rendering a large verdict.

evidence law, the ruling is reviewed *de novo*. *Davis v. Beling*, 128 Nev. 301, 311, 278 P.3d 501, 508 (2012). A district court necessarily abuses its discretion if it makes an erroneous ruling of law or an erroneous assessment of evidence. *BMW v. Roth*, 127 Nev. 122, 133, 252 P.3d 649, 657 (2011).

#### A. Evidence of the Center case was irrelevant and prejudicial.

Vicki Center was an unrelated patient who had another unrelated surgery by Dr. Rives; she developed sepsis, eventually leading to amputation of her feet, and she sued Dr. Rives for malpractice. Over defense objections on multiple grounds, the district court admitted evidence regarding the Center case into the Farris trial, allowing Plaintiffs' counsel to bombard the jury with evidence regarding Center throughout the trial. A trial transcript search reveals that **the Center case was mentioned in the Farris trial at least 180 times in the presence of the jury, and the fact of Vickie Center's amputations was also made known to the jury.** *E.g.*, 21 A.App. 4647 (including overruled objection). This trial should have been a Farris trial. Instead, the district court allowed it to become a Farris-Center trial.

The evidence was irrelevant to the fundamental question of whether Dr. Rives's conduct departed from the accepted standard of medical care. *Mitchell v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 131 Nev. 163, 174, 359 P.3d 1096, 1103 (2015) (discussing requirements for malpractice suits). Inflammatory and speculative evidence involving prior incidents other than the incident at issue serves little

12

purpose except to inflame the jury, and such evidence should not be admitted. *See Roever v. State*, 114 Nev. 867, 872, 963 P.2d 503, 506 (1998). Evidence of prior incidents can result in a verdict against a defendant because the jury believes the defendant is a bad person, rather than because of the merits of the case. *See e.g.*, *Braunstein v. State*, 118 Nev. 68, 73, 40 P.3d 413, 417 (2002).

With certain exceptions not applicable here, evidence of prior bad acts is not admissible to prove the defendant's character or to show that he acted in conformity therewith. NRS 48.045(2). **"A presumption of inadmissibility attaches to all prior bad act evidence."** *Hubbard v. State*, 134 Nev. 450, 454, 422 P.3d 1260, 1264 (2018) (emphasis added). Evidence of prior bad acts can have minimal probative value and can cause unfair prejudice to the defendant. *Id.* at 457, 422 P.3d at 1266.

Evidence of other claims against a doctor is irrelevant in a medical malpractice action. *See Wood v. McCullough*, 45 F.R.D. 41 (S.D.N.Y. 1968). Evidence concerning other lawsuits against a party is irrelevant unless there is a "clear nexus" and no significant differences between the cases. *McCleod v. Parsons Corp.*, 2003 WL 22097841, \*7 (6th Cir. 2003; unpublished) (employment litigation). A potential for prejudice accompanies such evidence, outweighing its probative value and misleading the jury. *Id.* 

### B. NRS 48.035 precluded the Center evidence.

Even if evidence is relevant, it is "not admissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of misleading the jury." NRS 48.035(1).

In *Hansen v. Universal Health Servs.*, 115 Nev. 24, 974 P.2d 1158 (1999), a patient suffered a severe debilitating infection after spine surgery. He sued the doctor and the hospital, contending that the incision became severely infected due to contamination with fecal material. The jury returned a defense verdict. On appeal, the plaintiff contended that the district court erroneously excluded a Nevada state agency's survey of medical complications experienced by the doctor's other patients who also had the same surgery. The *Hansen* court affirmed exclusion of the evidence under NRS 48.035(1), because the probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of confusing the issues and misleading the jury. *Id.* at 27, 974 P.2d at 1160. Injecting evidence of other cases into the trial at hand would prolong trial, confuse the issues, and divert the jury from the case at hand to collateral matters. *Id.* The evidence was properly excluded. *Id.*

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