IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BARRY JAMES RIVES, M.D. and
LAPAROSCOPIC SURGERY OF NEVADA, LLC,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

vs.

TITINA FARRIS and PATRICK FARRIS,

Respondents/Cross-Appellants.

No.: 80271

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District
Court, the Honorable Joanna S. Kishner
Presiding

Electronically Filed
Mar 03 2021 11:51 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

BARRY JAMES RIVES, M.D. and
LAPAROSCOPIC SURGERY OF NEVADA, LLC,

Appellants,

vs.

TITINA FARRIS and PATRICK FARRIS,

Respondents.

No.: 81052

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District
Court, the Honorable Joanna S. Kishner
Presiding

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

VII. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. DEFENDANTS HAVE FORFEITED THE RIGHT TO ASK FOR A NEW TRIAL SINCE THEIR REQUESTED RELIEF IS RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

1. The Prohibition Against Raising Issues for the First Time on Appeal Extends to the Types of Relief Requested.

It is well established that “[a] point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal.” *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981). In *Schuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nevada, Inc.*, 126 Nev. 434, 437–438, 245 P.3d 542, 545 (2010), this Court reaffirmed *Old Aztec* and concluded, “We decline to reverse summary judgment to allow Schuck to reinvent his case on new grounds.” In reaching this conclusion, the Court explained, “This rule is not meant to be harsh, overly formalistic, or to punish careless litigators.

Rather, the requirement that parties may raise on appeal only issues which have been presented to the district court maintains the efficiency, fairness, and integrity of the judicial system for all parties.” *Id.*, 126 Nev. at 437, 245 P.3d at 544.

The prohibition against raising new issues on appeal has been stated by this Court repeatedly both before and after *Old Aztec*. For example, in 1925, this Court held that the “statute of frauds cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. The objection must first be taken in some appropriate way in the court below; otherwise it will be deemed to have been waived.” *Cornell v. Gobin*, 49 Nev. 101, 105, 238 P. 344, 345 (1925). As early as 1937, this Court held that the “point of excessive damages cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, no motion for a new trial being made in the trial court on that ground.” *Hilton v. Hymers*, 57 Nev. 391, 394, 65 P.2d 679, 680 (1937). The Court’s citations to *Old Aztec* since 1981 are legion. *See, e.g., In re Estate of Scheide*, 478 P.3d 851 n.5 (Nev. 2020) (“We need not address the effect of NRS 136.240(5), which the parties did not raise below and the district court did not address.”) (citing *Old Aztec*).

Other courts looking at this precise issue have concluded that the failure to file a motion for new trial, in addition to preserving objections at trial, waives the issue for appellate review. *See, e.g., Spotts v. Spotts*, 55 S.W.2d 977, 980 (Mo. 1932) (“[B]efore an appellant or plaintiff in error can have a review of any matter of exception on the trial, he must not only make his objections and save his exceptions

at the time they occur, but he must also bring them again to the court's attention by a motion for new trial.") (citations omitted). The Missouri Supreme Court explained that the "purpose of this requirement is to afford the trial court an opportunity to correct its own errors." *Id.* at 980–981. Additionally, "[b]y requiring a complaining party to state to the trial court what his grounds of complaint are, error may be remedied without the delay or expense incident to appellate review." *Id.* at 981.

In a patent infringement case, the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals similarly concluded, "With respect to [the plaintiff's] frequent references to jury prejudice resulting from disclosure to the jury of [the plaintiff's] recent civil penalties and criminal convictions for several violations of Food and Drug Administration laws and regulations, we take note that no motion for a new trial was made on this ground, and the issue is not before us for review." *C.R. Bard, Inc. v. M3 Sys.*, 157 F.3d 1340, 1373–1374 (Fed. Cir. 1998).

The Supreme Court of Washington reached the same conclusion: "The office of the motion for a new trial is to give the trial court an opportunity to pass upon questions not before submitted for its ruling. Hence, those errors which could only have been raised on motion for new trial will not be considered on appeal, if not raised by this motion." *State v. Davis*, 250 P.2d 548, 549 (Wash. 1952). The court explained that this new trial rule is a corollary to the preservation rule that new issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal: "This is but a corollary to the rule that

questions which are not raised in any manner before the lower court will not be considered on appeal.” *Id.* (citations omitted). Therefore, the Court should first conclude that the well-established prohibition against raising issues for the first time on appeal likewise extends to requests for a new trial that are raised for the first time on appeal, as in the instant case.

2. Defendants’ Request for a New Trial for the First Time in This Court Is Improper and Should Be Denied.

In their opening brief, Defendants’ ultimate requested relief in this appeal is for a new trial: “The judgment should be reversed, and a new trial should be ordered.” Appellants/Cross-Respondents’ Opening Brief (“AOB”) 80. However, the District Court docket reflects that Defendants did not file a motion for new trial. 20 RA 2605–2614. NRCP 59(a) governs the specific grounds by which district courts may grant a new trial. Importantly, a district court’s findings and conclusions when faced with a motion for new trial are necessarily based upon the facts of the case presented at trial. *See, e.g., Lioce v. Cohen*, 124 Nev. 1, 19–20, 174 P.3d 970, 982 (2008) (“[W]hen deciding a motion for a new trial, the district court must make specific findings, both on the record during oral proceedings and in its order, with regard to its application of the standards described above to the facts of the cases before it.”). This Court’s role in reviewing an order granting or denying a motion for new trial is to review the district court’s order for an abuse of discretion. *See*

Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 130 Nev. 67, 74, 319 P.3d 606, 611 (2014) (“This court reviews a district court’s decision to grant or deny a motion for a new trial for an abuse of discretion.”). However, since Defendants bypassed filing a motion for new trial in the District Court, not only was the District Court deprived of the opportunity to consider Defendants’ assignments of error, but this Court is unable to conduct a proper review of whether the District Court properly or improperly granted a new trial because there is no appealable order to review. *See* NRAP 3A(b)(2) (allowing an appeal from an “order granting or denying a motion for a new trial”).

In essence, Defendants ask this Court to review, in the first instance, their arguments for a new trial, which contain factual issues and would convert this Court into a factfinder. However, this Court does not engage in appellate factfinding. *See Law Offices of Barry Levinson, P.C. v. Milko*, 124 Nev. 355, 365, 184 P.3d 378, 385 (2008) (“[I]t is not the role of this court to reweigh the evidence.”); *Ryan’s Express Transp. Servs. v. Amador Stage Lines, Inc.*, 128 Nev. 289, 299, 279 P.3d 166, 172 (2012) (“An appellate court is not particularly well-suited to make factual determinations in the first instance.”) (citations omitted). Therefore, this Court should make the threshold determination that Defendants’ arguments in this appeal requesting a new trial are not preserved for appellate review.

B. DEFENDANTS' EVIDENTIARY CHALLENGES ARE COMPLETELY WITHOUT MERIT, OR ALTERNATIVELY, AMOUNT TO NOTHING MORE THAN HARMLESS ERROR.

1. Defendants Present This Court With a Completely Incorrect Presumption Regarding the Jury's Verdict.

Since Plaintiffs prevailed at trial, they are entitled to all favorable inferences in the record. *See Yamaha Motor Co. v. Arnoult*, 114 Nev. 233, 238, 955 P.2d 661, 664 (1998) (noting that appellate courts are “not at liberty to weigh the evidence anew, and where conflicting evidence exists, all favorable inferences must be drawn towards the prevailing party”); *Countrywide Home Loans v. Thitchener*, 124 Nev. 725, 739, 192 P.3d 243, 252 (2008) (same). Instead of abiding by this well-established presumption, Defendants pretend as if they are entitled to favorable inferences in the record. For example, Defendants recite for their statement of facts certain testimony from their own experts, as well as their own arguments, all while ignoring the prevailing evidence presented by Plaintiffs at trial. AOB 2–4. Defendants’ skewed presentation of only the facts favoring themselves is the only way they can support their misplaced arguments. Once the Court takes into account all the facts in the record, and applies the proper presumption of the jury’s verdict, the Court should reject Defendants’ legal arguments that rely upon only their own misconstrued version of the facts. *See Powers v. United Servs. Auto. Ass’n*, 114 Nev. 690, 702, 962 P.2d 596, 604 (1998) (“[T]his court must presume that the jury

believed evidence favorable to that prevailing party and drew inferences in that party's favor.") (citations omitted).

2. Defendants' Argument Regarding Alleged Cumulative Error Should Actually Be Reviewed as Harmless Error.

Defendants' opening brief argues that the District Court committed "cumulative error." AOB 5. For this cumulative error proposition, Defendants rely upon *Holderer v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 114 Nev. 845, 853, 963 P.2d 459, 465 (1998). However, *Holderer* does not even mention the word "cumulative." Rather, the Court identified two reasons for granting a new trial. There was no discussion in the opinion whether one reason was sufficient, or if the Court combined the two reasons to reach "cumulative error." Thus, *Holderer* does not extend the notion of cumulative error to civil cases. *Cf. Mulder v. State*, 116 Nev. 1, 17, 992 P.2d 845, 854–855 (2000) (addressing a claim of cumulative error in which all three elements must be satisfied: (1) whether the issue of guilt is close; (2) the quantity and character of the error; and (3) the gravity of the crime charged). Of course, since Defendants cannot demonstrate any error, there can be no cumulative error.

The proper focus in this appeal is to salvage the jury's verdict. *See Wyeth v. Rowatt*, 126 Nev. 446, 476, 244 P.3d 765, 785–786 (2010) ("A jury's verdict should be salvaged, when possible, to avoid a new trial.") (citation omitted). Consistent with NRC 61, all of Defendants' presumed errors are harmless: "Unless justice

requires otherwise, no error in admitting or excluding evidence—or any other error by the court or a party—is ground for granting a new trial, for setting aside a verdict, or for vacating, modifying, or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order. At every stage of the proceeding, the court must disregard all errors and defects that do not affect any party’s substantial rights.” Notably, Defendants have not attempted to demonstrate that their substantial rights have been affected. *See, e.g.*, NRCP 59(a) (“The court may, on motion, grant a new trial on all or some of the issues—and to any party—for any of the following causes or grounds materially affecting the substantial rights of the moving party. . . .”). When considering whether there was harmless error, “[t]he record must be considered as a whole.” *Truckee-Carson Irrigation Dist. v. Wyatt*, 84 Nev. 662, 668, 448 P.2d 46, 50 (1968). The Court “do[es] not presume prejudice from the occurrence of error in a civil case.” *Boyd v. Pernicano*, 79 Nev. 356, 359, 385 P.2d 342, 343 (1963); *Cook v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., LLC*, 124 Nev. 997, 1006, 194 P.3d 1214, 1219 (2008) (confirming that the appealing party must establish “by providing record evidence . . . that, but for the error, a different result might have been reached”). Therefore, the Court should reject Defendants’ cumulative error argument, and instead review this case for harmless error, if any.

3. **There Was No Attorney Misconduct, Nor Any Defense Objection Based Upon the Reptile Theory.**

Defendants characterize their reptile theory argument as attorney misconduct. AOB 6. Yet, they completely avoid the very heightened standards for proving attorney misconduct. *See Lioce v. Cohen*, 124 Nev. 1, 174 P.3d 970 (2008). Defendants do not identify which category of attorney misconduct they contend is applicable to the so-called “reptile theory.” In fact, Defendants do not even identify whether there was an objection or an admonishment for the particular instances where the word “safety” was uttered in the District Court and cannot raise these issues for the first time on appeal. *See Old Aztec Mine v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981). In any event, Dr. Rives agreed that when performing a surgery, use of a wrong tool or device can put the patient in unnecessary danger. 20 AA 4305. For example, Dr. Rives explained that he preferred not to use the harmonic scalpel because it can actually “poke into the small bowel” or “it could burn the bowel.” 20 AA 4306–4307. Dr. Rives also agreed that it was important to limit the time that a patient is septic because a patient could die or suffer permanent injury. 20 AA 4308. Thus, Defendants’ entire reptile theory argument fails for several reasons. Without abandoning this waiver argument, Plaintiffs, nevertheless, address the cases that Defendants have raised, even though they have no application to the instant case.

Courts generally do not sua sponte analyze counsel’s strategy prior to trial. In this case, Defendants did not move the District Court to analyze or limit Plaintiffs’ trial strategy. Trial strategy includes mental impressions and legal theories of the case which are protected from review. *See Wardleigh v. Second Judicial Dist. Court*, 111 Nev. 345, 357, 891 P.2d 1180, 1188 (1995). In fact, it is generally improper for any party to seek information which could reveal a party’s litigation strategy. *See Club Vista Fin. Servs. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 128 Nev. 224, 229, 276 P.3d 246, 249–250 (2012). An attorney acts as an officer of the court within the framework of our judicial process to “promote justice” and “protect their clients’ interests.” *Hickman v. Taylor*, 329 U.S. 495, 510–511, 67 S.Ct. 385, 393 (1947). An attorney’s duty to advocate on behalf of his client requires privacy from intrusion by opposing parties so he can “prepare his legal theories and plan his strategy without undue and needless interference.” *Id.* Attorneys have an ethical duty to zealously advocate for their clients. *See Thomas v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 122 Nev. 82, 96, 127 P.3d 1057, 1067 (2006) (“Zealous advocacy is the cornerstone of good lawyering and the bedrock of a just legal system.”).

Defendants characterize the reptile theory as “a jury influence tactic used by plaintiffs’ attorneys to motivate juries to award larger verdicts.” AOB 6 (citing *Perez v. Ramos*, 2018 LEXIS 825, at *25–26, 429 P.3d 254, 2018 WL 5305614 (Kan. Ct. App. 2018 (unpublished))). The unpublished Kansas case describes the

reptile theory without citing the information and never addresses whether a court can properly exclude reptile tactics from a trial. *See Perez*, 2018 LEXIS 825, at *26–27. Instead, the court looked at the issue of whether evidence was improperly excluded and rejected the appellant’s argument because he failed to properly preserve the argument for appeal. *Id.*

Defendants cite another unpublished Kansas opinion for the accusation that the reptile theory encourages the jury to decide the case based on fear for its own safety. AOB 6 (citing *Randolph v. Quiktrip Corp.*, No. 16-1063-JPO, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 76103, at *12 (D. Kan. May 18, 2017)). Defendants cite the part of the case where the court was quoting the defendant’s argument, not analyzing the arguments or stating its opinion. *Id.* (“Defendant asserts that the plaintiff’s bar has implemented a concept commonly known as the Reptile theory. . .”). Further, that court considered the issue a question of whether evidence should be excluded. The court held that evidence of the defendant’s policies and safety rules were relevant and should be admitted subject to future consideration, if and when specific objections were raised according to the rules of evidence. *Id.* at *13–14.

Defendants next cite an unpublished Michigan case for the proposition that in medical malpractice cases, plaintiff’s attorneys use the reptile theory to get the jury to disregard the proper standard of care. AOB 7 (citing *Bryson v. Genesys Reg’l Med. Ctr.*, 2018 Mich. App. LEXIS 1102, *53, 2018 WL 1611438). In that case, the

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